Autonomy and Control in the Norwegian Civil Service: Does Agency Form Matter?

Per Lægreid

PAUL G. RONESS

KRISTIN RUBECKSEN

STEIN ROKKAN CENTRE FOR SOCIAL STUDIES UNIFOB AS SEPTEMBER 2005

Working Paper 4 - 2005

Contents

Preface	3
Abstract	1
SAMMENDRAG	5
INTRODUCTION	7
Тне солтехт	3
THEORETICAL APPROACHES 1	10
The structural-instrumental perspective1	.1
A cultural-institutional perspective1	2
External pressure1	
Blending the perspectives1	5
Data base and methodology1	15
Empirical results	8
The dependent variables: autonomy and control1	.8
Bivariate and multivariate analyses2	24
Multivariate analysis2	27
DISCUSSION	<u>2</u> 9
CONCLUSION	31
LITERATURE	32
Appendix	35
Independent variables	5

Preface

This paper is written as a part of the research program «Regulation, Control and Auditing» funded by the Norwegian Research Council. Earlier version of the paper was presented at the Stanford/SOG conference on «Autonomization of the State. From integrated administrative models to single-purpose organizations», Stanford April 1–2 2005 and at the Ninth International Research Symposium on Public Management – IRSPM IX, Bocconi School of Management, Milan, April 6–8 2005. We would like to thank Vidar W. Rolland and John-Erik Aagotnes for their substantial help in formulating the questionnaire and collecting the data. We will also thank Tom Christensen for comments on an earlier version of the paper.

Abstract

This paper describes the degree of perceived autonomy and control in Norwegian state agencies, examines the relationships between different dimensions of autonomy, and analyzes the variations in perceived autonomy and control. One of the main findings of a broad survey of Norwegian state agencies carried out in 2004 is that agencies have quite a lot of autonomy. However, this autonomy is not of a general nature but varies significantly along different dimensions. Some autonomy dimensions represent clusters that supplement one other, while others are rather loosely coupled. The formulated hypotheses based on selected variables derived from a structural-instrumental, a cultural-institutional, and an environmental approach generally did not get strong support from the empirical analyses. There are, however, some significant relationships with variables derived from all three perspectives.

Sammendrag

Dette notatet beskriver opplevd autonomi og kontroll i norske statlige forvaltningsorgan. Det fokuseres spesielt på relasjonene mellom ulike dimensjoner ved autonomi, slik som personalmessig autonomi, finansiell autonomi og policy-autonomi og på variasjoner i autonomi og kontroll slik det oppleves fra de ulike forvaltningsorganene. Det empiriske grunnlaget er en bredt anlagt spørreundersøkelse til statlige forvaltningsorgan utenom departementene som ble gjennomført i 2004. Et hovedfunn er at forvaltningsorganene opplever en betydelig autonomi. Men denne autonomien varierer langs ulike dimensjoner og er for eksempel større i personalsaker enn i finansielle spørsmål. Noen autonomidimensjoner utgjør sammenhengende knippe mens andre er mer løst koplet. De formulerte hypotesene på grunnlag av et struktureltinstrumentelt perpektiv, et kulturelt-institusjonelt perspektiv og et omgivelsesperspektiv får generelt ikke størte i de empiriske analysene. Det er imidlertid signifikante sammenhenger med variabler fra alle tre perspektivene.

Introduction

Agencies represent a traditional organizational form in the Norwegian central government with a long history. They are an integral part of the Norwegian civil service, and norms and practices for agency autonomy and control have become established over time. In the last decade, however, agencies have been subjected to reorganizations and reforms. As in many other countries, there has been a general trend in Norway to upgrade the role of agencies by giving them increased autonomy and by introducing role-purification. This development has been especially strong for regulatory agencies. The Norwegian government recently formulated a new regulatory policy focusing on the autonomization and strengthening of supervisory agencies. In addition, efforts to increase agency autonomy have been accompanied by an increase in external auditing and control. This dual prescription of both enhanced autonomy and more control produces an inherent tension in agency reforms. On the one hand, the agencies are supposed to gain more autonomy, both from political executives and from market actors. On the other hand, central political control is expected to be enhanced by a strengthening of frame steering and regulatory power (Christensen and Lægreid 2004a).

Generally there is a strong belief among reform agents that formal structure will make a difference, and reorganization is thus a main strategy in agency reform. There is a large literature on how formal structure affects behavior (Egeberg 2003), but still the implications of formal structure are often not always very well understood (Pollitt and Bouckaert 2004). In this paper we will challenge the one-sided focus on formal agency structure and look at cultural and environmental features as well in order to understand how autonomy and control are perceived in different forms of agencies.

This paper sets out to do two things: 1) to describe the degree of perceived autonomy and control in Norwegian state agencies and to examine the relationships between different dimensions of autonomy; 2) to analyze the variation in perceived autonomy and control, emphasizing the importance of the structural, cultural, and environmental features of the agencies. The empirical basis is a broad survey of Norwegian state agencies carried out in 2004.

State agencies are part of the civil service, but they are structurally disaggregated from the ministries. They carry out public tasks on a permanent basis, are staffed by civil servants, are subject to public law procedures, and are normally financed mainly by the state budget. They have some autonomy from the ministries in policy decision-making and in personnel, financial, and managerial matters, but they are not totally independent (Pollitt et al. 2004).

The main set of dependent variables in this paper is different dimensions of autonomy and control. Agency autonomy is a multidimensional concept and not linked to agencies' formal legal status in any straightforward way. Agencies with the same formal status may vary substantially in their autonomy (Pollitt et al. 2004), and autonomy may apply to varying degrees to a number of different dimensions, such as policy autonomy, managerial autonomy, and structural, financial, and legal autonomy (Christensen 2001, Verhoest et al. 2004). One may also differentiate between strategic autonomy and operational autonomy along some of these dimensions (Verhoest et al. 2004). Autonomy along one dimension may not imply autonomy along others (Bouckaert and Peters 2004). The level of autonomy may also vary over time. There are differences between structural autonomy, legal autonomy, and de facto autonomy. Structural disaggregation and autonomy in practice often go together, but there may also be agencies which score high on disaggregation and low on autonomy (Graham and Roberts 2004), and vice versa. Agency autonomy must also be seen in relation to control from superior bodies. The agencies are not independent in any absolute sense, but are quasi-autonomous entities and the ministries will normally use different forms for control and steering to constrain the agencies' autonomy.

In this paper we will first present the Norwegian context of agencification and administrative reform. Second, we will outline three theoretical perspectives, focusing on different explanatory variables, and formulate hypotheses on the relationships between these independent variables and perceived autonomy and control. Third, we will briefly describe the data base and methodology. Fourth, we will present the empirical results. Finally, we will discuss the findings and draw conclusions.

The context

Norway is a small unitary, parliamentary, and multiparty state. Since the early 1970s, it has mainly been ruled by minority governments, and since 1994 it has been connected to the EU through the Economic Area Agreement. In a comparative perspective, it has a strong democratic tradition, scores high on per capita income and abundance of natural resources, has relatively strong collectivistic and egalitarian values, is consensusoriented, and has a low level of internal conflict and well-developed corporatist arrangements. It also has one of the most comprehensive and universal welfare states in the world with a large public sector. Its economy is open and dependent on export. The relationships between parliament, ministers, and agencies are based on the principle of ministerial responsibility, meaning that the minister is responsible to the parliament for all activities within his or her policy area in the ministry as well as in subordinate bodies. Political control over the civil service has, however, been general and passive, allowing the executive a lot of leeway. This seems to reflect some major features of the politicaladministrative system: high levels of mutual trust and shared attitudes and norms among political and administrative leaders and within the public sector (Christensen and Lægreid 2005a). The level of trust in public institutions is generally higher than in most other countries (Norris 1999). Surveys of political support for national government and parliament nearly always accord Norway a leading position. Nevertheless, the pattern of confidence in political institutions is cyclical, and the level was lower at the end of the 1990s than in the early 1980s (Listhaug 1995, 1998).

Agencies have been a major organizational form in the Norwegian central government for a long time and have displayed a lot of path-dependency, representing an enduring historical conflict between the political executive and professional groups (Christensen and Roness 1999). Around 1850 the first autonomous professional agencies (called directorates) outside the integrated and jurist-dominated hierarchical

ministries were established, primarily in the communications sector. A second wave of independent agencies followed in the 1870s. This agency type was imitated from Sweden. In the period between the establishment of the parliamentary principle in 1884 and the outbreak of World War I the number of new independent agencies stagnated, and in the period between the world wars a partially integrated agency model became more widespread.

In the mid-1950s the government stated a new principle for agency structure and increased the number of independent agencies. The idea was that more technical issues and routine tasks should be moved to the agencies, while policy and planning tasks should stay within the ministries. The new doctrine resulted in the establishment of several new agencies over the next 15 years, but this development slowed down in the 1970s, partly for political reasons (Christensen and Roness 1999, Grønlie 2001).

The dominant agency model in Norway has historically been rather unified, with little horizontal specialization (Christensen and Lægreid 2004b). In most agencies administrative tasks, regulatory and control tasks, and service provision and production tasks have been combined and integrated. Traditionally, Norway has not had any type of administrative court. Appeals are directed to the parent ministry, which can also instruct the agencies. The idea that there ought to be separate agencies for different tasks is rather new, although some of the agencies have enjoyed enhanced authority for some time, mainly in financial and personnel matters, but also in some more substantive areas (Lægreid et al. 2003).

Over the past 15 years, a process of structural devolution has been going on in the Norwegian central government, and the independent agency model has become more differentiated (Christensen and Lægreid 2003). This development was partly inspired by New Public Management ideas and solutions, but was also a part of Norway's adaptation to the EU and the internal market. The model combines vertical interorganizational specialization (or structural disaggregation), whereby agencies formally gain more authority, with increased horizontal inter-organizational specialization, whereby the distribution of roles and tasks among agencies are more differentiated and non-overlapping.

Until the late 1980s major public sectors like railways, telecommunications, electrical power, postal services, forestry, grain sales, airports, road construction, and public broadcasting were organized as integrated government services, whereby the state held the roles of owner, provider, purchaser, regulator, and controller. Since then, the commercial parts of these enterprises have become corporatized, while the regulatory parts have been streamlined into separate agencies, creating a more fragmented and disintegrated model. Over time, the primary task of an increasing proportion of agencies has become regulation and scrutiny (Rubecksen 2004). Some of these agencies, like the Data Inspectorate, the Lottery Inspectorate, and the Media Authority, are new, but many also represent re-labelling and rearrangements of former activities and organizations.

Since the mid-1990s NPM has gained a stronger footing in Norway, and reforms have become increasingly comprehensive and radical in recent years (Christensen and Lægreid 2001, 2002). The introduction of Management by Objectives and Results, private sector management tools, changes from horizontally integrated ministerial

models to single-purpose models, increased agencification, and the establishment of autonomous regulatory bodies have been the result. There has also been a strong trend in some policy areas to merge smaller bodies into larger units. One example of this is the reform of higher education in the mid-1990s, in which many relatively small state colleges were merged, reducing the number from 98 to 26 (Lægreid et al. 2003).

In 2003 the current conservative-centre minority government put forward a White Paper to the parliament (St.meld nr. 17 (2002–2003)), proposing a new regulatory policy, whereby regulatory agencies would increase their independence from the ministries. Political considerations were to be confined primarily to setting general norms through laws and rules, while executive politicians were expected to leave individual cases to be handled by competent professionals in the regulatory agencies. The regulatory agencies were to be endowed with legitimacy by removing the ambiguity inherent in mixing political and professional considerations, by making the balance between these considerations more explicit, and by strengthening their professional competence. The opportunities for ministers to instruct the agencies in the handling of individual cases should be reduced by directing ministerial responsibility more toward broader policy questions and general guidelines. In addition, it was proposed to change the complaints procedure in several agencies by moving it away from the ministries and into new independent bodies of appeal. The parliament did not approve all of these proposals, and a compromise was reached with some of the opposition parties in which the establishment of independent appeal boards was postponed until after the next general election. It was also agreed that the restriction in the power of executive political leaders to instruct the agencies should not be introduced as a general principle but should be handled on a case-by-case basis (Christensen and Lægreid 2004b).

Summing up, the independent agency model is an old and contested organizational form in the Norwegian central government. One of the most enduring conflicts in Norwegian administrative policy has revolved around the issues of agency autonomy and ministerial control. There seems to be no final answer or best solution to the question of how to balance autonomy and control, and one lesson from the past is that one has to learn to live with a certain amount of tension between these two considerations and with the unstable trade-offs that occur both over time and across different administrative cultures and structural arrangements.

Theoretical approaches

We will distinguish between three perspectives on organizations: a structuralinstrumental approach, a cultural-institutional approach, and an environmental approach, which stresses the importance of external pressure. The first perspective emphasizes the formal organizational structure, and we would thus expect to find a close link between formal structure and how autonomy and control are perceived and practised. For example, the regulatory agencies may differ from civil service organizations performing other tasks and with different forms of affiliation. By contrast, the institutional perspective would attribute variations in how autonomy and control are perceived and practised to other organizational features, such as age, size, and culture. The external pressure, emphasized by the environmental approach, is primarily related to market pressure and competition, and may, as shown below, share some common ground with the instrumental perspective. We will now present these perspectives in some detail and derive some hypotheses from them.

A structural-instrumental perspective

A main feature of many organizational approaches is the concept of bounded rationality (March and Simon 1958), which implies that decision-makers have limited time and attention and cannot address all goals, all alternatives, and all consequences. They face problems of capacity and understanding and have to make some selections. The formal organizational structure represents one important selection mechanism. Formal structures and procedures organize some actors, cleavages, problems, and solutions into decision-making processes in the public sector, while others are excluded.

Gulick (1937) argues that there is a rather close connection between the formal structure chosen and the practice within and between organizations, underlining that the way formal authority is distributed among hierarchical levels is important for autonomy in practice. In a system characterized by independent agencies this distribution is biased against the political executive and we will thus generally expect to find rather high level of autonomy in the agencies. The formal instruments of steering are diluted, the distance between administrative levels increases, and political signals are generally weaker in independent bodies (Egeberg 2003). Whether agencies are specialized according to process, purpose, clientele, or geography will also affect their behavior.

Decision-makers act on behalf of formal organizations. A structural-instrumental approach presumes that one has to study how the public sector is organized in order to understand how it works. It makes a difference whether central government is an integrated system under ministerial responsibility or a disintegrated system of autonomous or semi-autonomous organizations, whether it is centralized or decentralized, and whether it is specialized according to the principle of geography and/or other principles (Christensen and Lægreid 2005c).

According to this perspective formal structure matters, but it is not the only organizational feature that may be instrumentally designed. It is not enough to focus on the narrow internal organizational structure of the agencies, for the division of tasks as well as their external organization may play an important role in their behavior. Thus, explanatory factors include formal structural features both within and between public organizations as well as polity features (Christensen and Lægreid 2003, Pollitt and Bouckaert 2004).

Based on this general perspective we will adopt three structural variables: form of affiliation, type of agency, and primary tasks.¹ *Form of affiliation* represents the external organization, or form and degree of structural disaggregation from the parent ministry. Our main distinction will be between ordinary agencies and agencies with various forms and degrees of formal autonomy. Our general hypothesis (H1) will be that the most

¹ For a description of the independent variables, see the Appendix.

structurally disaggregated organizations will perceive themselves as having more autonomy and less control than agencies that are structurally closer to the ministry.

The term type of agency refers to the internal organization of the agencies. Based on Gulick's principles of specialization we will distinguish between: 1) agencies organized on the principle of purpose, process, or clientele at the national level without any regional or local branches; 2) agencies in which the main principle for organization is geography (area), with one agency in each region or district but without a central agency between the local bodies and the ministry; and 3) organizations with purpose, process, or clientele as the main principle of organization at the national level, but with suborganizations (branches) in various territorial areas. We will expect the existence of a geographical component in agency specialization in addition to specialization according to ministerial sectors will tend to increase the autonomy of subordinate bodies. Agencies organized according to geography will be more embedded in regional or local networks, which will tend to increase their autonomy from their parent ministry. In Norway, most ministries are organized according to purpose, a few have elements of process or clientele, while none are specialized according to geography at the ministerial level. Thus, our hypothesis (H2) will be that agencies organized according to geography in combination with another principle will perceive themselves as having more autonomy and less control than agencies without a territorial component. External and internal organization may also supplement each other. Agencies scoring high on disaggregation that are also specialized according to geography may thus have greater autonomy than agencies which score low on disaggregation and are specialized according to purpose.

The third structural variable is the character of *primary tasks*. Studies of state agencies reveal that there are significant variations in their behavior according to what their primary tasks are (Pollitt et al. 2004). Not only the degree of vertical specialization and type of horizontal specialization but also the task structure is of importance when it comes to how autonomy is exercised in practice. Here, the basis of categorization is their own perception of what kind of tasks they have. We will distinguish between regulatory tasks, service providing or producing tasks, and policy-formulation or other ways of exercising public authority. According to the regulatory and administrative policy doctrines of today, regulatory agencies should be at arm's length from ministries in order to enhance credibility and reduce political uncertainty, and political executives should not interfere in the activities of service providing or producing tasks generally with the agencies with regulatory tasks or service providing or producing tasks generally will have more autonomy than agencies with other primary tasks.

A cultural-institutional perspective

A second set of factors concern the historical and cultural traditions of politicaladministrative systems (Selznick 1957). In institutional approaches informal norms, identities, and the logic of appropriateness are more important than interests and intentions and the logic of consequentiality (March and Olsen 1989). The point of departure is that a certain style of controlling agencies has developed over time. Norms and values within agencies and central government and internal dynamics are important. Path dependencies constrain what is appropriate and possible to move to agency status and how the agencies will operate. The reform road taken reflects the main features of national institutional processes, where institutional «roots» determine the path followed (Krasner 1988). Change is characterized by historical inefficiency and incrementalism. What happens in one agency is not a blueprint for developments in other agencies. Regulatory reforms reinforce underlying distinctive agency-specific or sector-specific trajectories and historical legacies, and the effects of formal structure are mediated and constrained by contextual factors (Thatcher and Stone Sweet 2002). Administrative traditions represent 'filters' producing different outcomes in different sectors, and agencies.

Certain styles of controlling agencies have developed over the years, whereby agencies are seen as strong and integrated instruments of political development serving particular political goals. For a long time this was a dominant feature of the Norwegian administrative model (Grønlie 1999). Over the past years, however, this model has been challenged, and the culture has changed toward giving agencies more leeway and autonomy and allowing for looser coupling to political goals, and it has gradually come to be taken for granted that agencies should be at arm's length from the political executive. The extent of this cultural change will probably vary between policy areas, tasks, and agencies. In some administrative cultures well-established informal contacts and networks between ministries and agencies may undermine their autonomy and create stronger integration between ministry and agency than expected from the formal model (Jacobsson 1984, Pierre 2004).

We will distinguish between four indicators of administrative culture. First, *agency age*. Normally, the development of a distinct culture and tradition takes some time. Older organizations will tend to have developed a stronger identity than younger ones, and the potential for socialization of their members into a common culture is higher. Thus, we will expect (H4) that older agencies will perceive themselves as having more autonomy and less control than younger agencies.

Second, *agency size*. Small agencies may generally have a more homogeneous culture and a more distinct identity than large agencies, and are thus more able to modify signals coming from the ministry. At the same time, they may have less administrative capability to exploit and utilize the possibilities offered by disaggregation and formal autonomy. Thus, assuming the primacy of homogeneous identity one may expect (H5a) small agencies generally perceive themselves as having more autonomy and less control than large agencies. If, on the other hand, we assume primacy of capacity we may expect (H5b) large agencies in practice to perceive themselves as having more autonomy and less control than small agencies.

Third, we argue that *mutual trust* also makes a difference. If there is a high level of mutual trust between an agency and the parent ministry there will be no cultural collusion between them, and thus no particular need for comprehensive steering and control from the top. Our hypothesis (H6) will then be that a high level of mutual trust between the agency and parent ministry will enhance agency autonomy. The effects of large autonomy in a high trust system will, however, be smaller because of shared

identities, high level of socialization, and similarities in problem definintions and solutions at the different administrative levels.

Fourth, we will expect internal *agency culture* to affect the degree of autonomy and control. Agencies with a strong professional culture underlining expertise and professional quality will generally perceive themselves as having more autonomy and less control than other agencies (H7a). In particular, we will expect policy autonomy concerning individual decisions or issues (operational autonomy) to be more extensive in agencies scoring high on professional quality values. Also, agencies with a strong customer and service culture will perceive themselves as having more autonomy and less control than other agencies (H7b).

External pressure

A third set of factors describe the autonomy and control of agencies primarily as a response to external pressure (Olsen 1992). The importance of the environment may be of two kinds (Christensen and Lægreid 2001). In the first instance there may be an adaptation to internationally based norms and beliefs about how an agency should be run and steered simply because these have become the prevailing doctrine in the institutional environment. New Public Management, with its strong focus on privatization, disaggregation, and agency autonomy, has been taken for granted and become ideologically dominant. Thus, there will be pressure for all agencies to engage in similar practices. The hypothesis (H8) will be that there is generally a high degree of autonomy and low variation in autonomy between agencies. What will be reported, however, is not necessarily practice, but interpretations of practice (Sahlin-Andersson 1996).

In the second instance, autonomy may be adopted to solve widespread problems created by the technical environment, such as performance and economic competition and market pressure in a global economy. Agencies are said to become more autonomous because this improves credibility and reduces problems of political uncertainty (Gilardi 2004). Especially for agencies operating in the market it is important to prevent political executives interfering in their daily business in order to enhance free, fair, and equal competition in the market and thus promote economy and efficiency. Autonomous agencies are seen as a favorable organizational form because agencies can be insulated from immediate, partisan political pressure. Thus, the agency model is chosen because it is the most efficient organizational form.

In this case a high level of agency autonomy will be the result not of ideological hegemony, but of the perceived technical efficiency of this model. Pollitt et al. (2004) have revealed that the way agencies are steered depends on whether they are embedded in a market or not. Agencies operating on a market need some kind of commercial independence and discretion to match their competitors and interference and steering from parent ministries in their daily businesses tend to undermine their position vis-a-vis other market actors. The hypothesis (H9) is that agencies working in a market or a quasi-market situation will have more autonomy from the parent ministry than agencies

which have no competitors. We will expect this to be the case especially when it comes to autonomy concerning individual decisions or issues (operational autonomy).

Blending the perspectives

The external pressure from the institutional environment or the technical environment may to some extent be handled instrumentally. Thus, governments and agencies may adopt new organizational forms to increase their legitimacy or to reduce the uncertainties produced by the market. The less one emphasizes the deterministic aspects of external pressure from the environment, the more this set of factors may be associated with a structural-instrumental approach. However, the degree of freedom in organizational design will probably be more limited by external pressure than by the structural features discussed previously.

We will argue that environmental, cultural, and structural context constitute transformative preconditions and constraints that in a complex and dynamic way affect the trade-off between autonomy and control (Christensen and Lægreid 2001). Cultural factors can modify the effects of formal structure, but cultural factors can also support structural devolution and make the effects even stronger. In the same way, external forces by a competitive market may be enhanced or tempered by structural features or administrative culture and tradition (Christensen and Lægreid 2004a). A main presumption is that formal organizational structures constrain organizational behavior, but also that the autonomy and control of agencies cannot be traced to one single factor such as formal structure. The type of formal structure is normally a broad category, which gives some direction but also allows a great variety of actual behavior.

Summing up, the complexity of the context matters, task-specific factors are important and the degree of perceived autonomy and control is the result of a blend of external pressure, path dependencies, and structural constraints (Olsen 1992, Pollitt et al. 2004). Instead of assuming that organizational forms determine the degree of autonomy or that autonomy is totally determined by external pressure or internal administrative culture, we will argue that we have to combine these features to understand the scope, level, and variation of autonomy and control. This will be done by focusing on the degree of freedom that exists within different organizational forms and in the great variety of situations arising both in administrative culture and in the environment.

Data base and methodology

In the formal structural arrangements of the Norwegian state apparatus the form of affiliation is a crucial organizational feature for classifying whether an organization is part of the civil service or not. At the national level the civil service is divided into quite small ministries with directorates/central agencies, other ordinary public administration bodies, agencies with extended authority, and government administrative enterprises, all outside the ministries but reporting to a ministry. Civil service organizations at the

regional or local level may report either directly to a ministry or through an organization at the national level. All civil service organizations are, legally speaking, government entities subject to ministerial directions and subordinated to ministerial control. In contrast to state-owned companies, civil service organizations are regulated through the state budget, the state collective wage agreement, the state pension scheme, the Freedom of Information Act, and the administrative law. Some agencies and all government administrative enterprises are given enhanced budgetary leeway (Lægreid et al. 2003). In short, the form of affiliation grants different sets of formal constraints or freedom of action in the interplay with general governmental regulative frameworks. In this respect, the level of agency autonomy and political steering and control, at least to a certain degree, formally follows as a consequence of form of affiliation.

In Norway, agencies outside the ministries represent the largest share of the civil service. In 2003 only a small percentage of civil servants were employed by ministries (about 3,900). In comparison, about 120,000 civil servants (including those at the regional and local levels) were employed by directorates/central agencies, other ordinary public administration bodies, agencies with extended authority, and government administrative enterprises. This number decreased from 185,000 in 1990, mainly due to the transformation of some large agencies and administrative enterprises into state-owned companies outside the civil service (e.g., Norwegian State Railways, the Norwegian Power Company, Telenor, the Norwegian Post, the airport administration and road construction.

The data base used in this paper is a survey addressed to all organizations in the civil service outside the ministries in 2004—i. e., organizations that are part of the state as a legal entity and are reporting to one or more ministries. It excludes ministries, local government, state-owned companies and governmental foundations. The civil service organizations are divided into *sub-forms of affiliation*. As of 2004 there were 57 directorates/central agencies, 125 other ordinary public administration bodies, 28 agencies with extended authority, and 5 government administrative enterprises.

The population of organizations consists of three different *agency types*: First, all single national civil service organizations without subordinate units, comprising 107 bodies (e.g., the Norwegian Competition Authority, the Directorate for Nature Management, and the Data Inspectorate). Second, integrated civil service organizations consisting of a national unit as well as subordinated regional or local branches (e.g., the Norwegian Tax Administration, Norwegian Customs and Excise, and the National Police Directorate). All of these 40 national units are included in the population, and they were asked to answer on behalf of the whole organization. Third, all single units in groups of similar civil service organizations in different geographical areas, reporting directly to one or more ministry (e.g., the County Governors, colleges etc.), comprising 68 bodies covering specific parts of the country.

Given these criteria, the population adds up to 215 civil service organizations. One questionnaire was sent to each agency, and a central manager was asked to answer on behalf of the whole organization. The questionnaire was an adaptation of a similar

survey carried out in Belgium (Flanders) in 2002–2003 (Verhoest et al. 2003).² It was rather comprehensive, covering organizational characteristics, autonomy dimensions, steering and control relationships, and organizational culture (Lægreid et al. 2004). A total of 150 organizations answered the survey, which constitutes a response rate of 70 %. There are only small variations in the response rate according to sub-form of affiliation and type of agency and between different ministerial areas. For half of the ministerial areas the response rate was over 80 % and none was below 50 %. Thus our conclusion is that the respondents are quite representative for the population of Norwegian state agencies.

The information on form of affiliation, type of agency, and agency age is based on the Norwegian State Administration Database, covering changes in the formal structure in state organizations from 1947 onwards (Lægreid et al. 2003). The information on the other independent variables and on all of the dependent variables is based on the questionnaire.

The dependent variables we will use in this paper are different dimensions of autonomy and control, as perceived by the civil service organizations. In considering *autonomy* we will differentiate between personnel autonomy, financial autonomy, and policy autonomy. Policy autonomy will include to what degree the agency can formulate its own goals and objectives independently of the parent ministry. In addition to this measure of strategic policy autonomy we also will examine operational policy autonomy. One indication of this kind of autonomy is to what degree the agency can decide on policy instruments, such as use of resources and other input, to achieve their goals without involvement from the parent ministry. Another indication is to what degree the agency can decide on matters concerning task accomplishment without involvement from the ministry.

The *steering and control* variables are different types of general rules in central government for financial management, personnel and salary arrangements, health, safety, and environmental regulations, and more specific rules regulating the rights of various ministries to instruct individual agencies. The regulations of international bodies like the EU and the WTO may also constrain agency autonomy. Furthermore, the parent ministry and the Ministry of Finance may generally steer and control the activities and practices of the agencies.

To describe and explain the degree of and variation in perceived autonomy and control we will primarily use univariate frequencies, bivariate correlations of all relevant relationships (summed up by measures like Pearson's r), and multivariate analysis of independent variables having significant bivariate correlations (summed up by standardized beta coefficients in linear regressions). While univariate frequencies of dependent variables include all categories, in the bivariate and multivariate analyses we use additive indexes and some variables which are dichotomized according to the most relevant categories in each case.

² The questionnaire is part of the «Comparative Public Organization Data Base for Research and Analysis – Network» (COBRA). More information on the COBRA network is available on the Internet: http://www.publicmanagement-cobra.org/

Empirical results

The dependent variables: autonomy and control

The first questions we would like to cover are to what extent the agencies perceive themselves as having autonomy, and whether this autonomy is of a general character or differentiated between the various dimensions. We will distinguish between personnel autonomy, financial autonomy, and policy autonomy. For personnel autonomy and policy autonomy we will also distinguish between strategic autonomy (concerning general decisions/issues) and operational autonomy (concerning individual decisions/issues).

Personnel autonomy. There has been a general trend in Norway over the past 15 years to make the rather centralized and standardized salary and personnel system more flexible and decentralized. Agencies have gained more discretion both in personnel matters and in setting pay scales and salaries (Christensen and Lægreid 1998).

Table 1 shows, first, that the agencies report a rather high level of personnel autonomy. The proportion stating that they have a lot of autonomy is considerably higher than those saying they have little or no autonomy. Second, the agencies differentiate between strategic personnel autonomy and operational personnel autonomy. Overall autonomy for agencies in personnel matters is greater in operational issues than in strategic issues. This is the case along all the five dimensions of personnel autonomy. Added to this, autonomy is greatest when it comes to recruitment and to evaluation of personnel. On such issues the agencies have quite a lot of autonomy both in formulating criteria and standards and in deciding individual cases. Autonomy is perceived to be lowest with regard to salaries and wage increases and concerning downsizing and dismissals.

	To a large degree	To some degree	Little or no degree	N=100%
Strategic personnel matters:				
Level of salaries	35	50	15	148
General criteria for promotion	43	45	13	148
General criteria for evaluation	65	27	8	148
General criteria for recruitment	61	32	7	148
General criteria for downsizing	31	48	22	147
Operational personnel matters:				
Wage increases for individual employees	60	23	18	146
Promotion of individual employees	65	20	15	146
Evaluation of individual employees	81	17	2	147
Recruiting individual employees	88	10	2	146
Dismissal of individual employees	60	25	15	146

Table 1. To what extent can the agency independently of the parent ministry or superior body make decisions on various personnel issues? Percentages.

For the rest of the analysis we constructed two additive indexes, one for strategic personnel autonomy and one for operational personnel autonomy.³ The indexes range from 0 (not a large degree of autonomy in any dimension in Table 1) to 5 (a large degree of autonomy in all dimensions). For strategic personnel autonomy 19 % of the agencies reported a large degree of autonomy on all five dimensions and 25 % not a large degree of autonomy along any dimension. The corresponding percentages for operational personnel autonomy are 41 % and 9 %.

Financial autonomy. Agencies may also have financial autonomy. Over the past 20 years there has been a general tendency in Norway to change the administration of the state budget in the direction of giving agencies more discretion in how to use the allocated resources. It has become easier to move funds from one year to another and between investment, salaries, and general operations. In addition, it has become more common among agencies to charge fees for products and services (Rubecksen 2003).

Table 2 reveals, first, that the agencies have almost no autonomy when it comes to making loans for investment. This has to do with the fact that they are included in the state budget, which generally means that their funding should come from the annual

³ For both indexes all intercorrelations are significant at the .01 level. Pearson's r is between .77 and .30. The way the two indexes have been created is by counting occurrences of agencies reporting a large degree of personnel autonomy for each of the five different dimensions.

state budget so they are not allowed to take up loans independently. The extended authority and increased autonomy in financial matters have not been expanded to the area of making loans.

Table 2. To what degree can the agency independently of the parent ministry or superior body make decisions on various financial issues? Percentages.

	To a large degree	To some degree	To little or no degree	N=100%
Make loans for investment	2	1	97	146
Set tariffs/prices for products and services	23	33	43	145
Set fees, charges	13	28	59	143
Conclude legal contracts/agreements with private sector actors	65	29	6	146

By contrast, the second finding is that agencies have a high degree of autonomy when it comes to concluding legal contracts and agreements with partners and actors in the private sector. Many agencies also have some limited autonomy in setting tariffs, prices, fees, and charges for their products and services. Compared to personnel autonomy, however, financial autonomy is more restricted, apart from the opportunity to conclude legal contracts.

For the rest of the analysis we use an additive index for financial autonomy.⁴ The index ranges from 0 (not a large degree of autonomy on any dimension in Table 2) to 4 (a large degree of autonomy on all dimensions). 34 % of the agencies do not report a large degree of financial autonomy on any dimension; 45 % report a large degree of financial autonomy on one dimension, 9 % on two, 11 % on three, and only 1 % on all four dimensions.

Policy autonomy. When it comes to policy autonomy we distinguish between strategic policy autonomy and operational policy autonomy. The former concerns the ability of the agency to set its own goals and objectives. We asked the agencies to what degree they were involved in setting the general goals for their agency. 20 % of the agencies reported that they set their goals alone, 45 % said that the goal were formulated by the agency in cooperation with the parent ministry, 27 % reported that the goals were formulated by the parent ministry alone. This picture reveals that the goal formulation process to a large extent is a cooperative effort between the agency and the parent ministry, and that, as perceived by the agencies at least, it is more a bottom-up process than a top-down process. This finding confirms similar patterns revealed in a

⁴ The intercorrelations are significant at the .01 level and Pearson's r is between .22 and .64 for all correlations except for the correlation between the ability to make loans for investment and to set tariffs/prices for products and services, which is .14 (sign. .09) and to enter contracts (Pearson's r is .09, sign. .03). The index is constructed in the same way as for the indexes related to personnel autonomy, by counting occurrences of agencies reporting a large degree of financial autonomy with respect to the four different dimensions.

comprehensive study including agency leaders as well as political and administrative executives in the ministries (Christensen and Lægreid 2002). Thus, the hierarchical element, according to which goals should be exogenous and externally decided by the parent ministry, is much weaker than assumed by the official practitioners' model of Management by Objectives and Results.

Operational policy autonomy is the degree of freedom that agencies have in making decisions about policy instruments and task accomplishment.

As Table 3 reveals, the agencies generally have a high degree of autonomy in choosing specific operational means and measures in day-to-day activities. About half of the agencies report that they take such decisions with little involvement or restrictions from the parent ministry. The degree of autonomy concerning policy instruments is slightly lower, but also rather high.

Table 3. Which of the following assertions gives the most precise description of your autonomy in choosing policy instruments and in task accomplishment? Percentages.

	Policy Instruments:	Task accomplishment:
	Choice of general policy instruments (use of resources, inputs) for achievement of goals and objectives for the agency	Choice of concrete, operational means and measures (prioritizing of activities) for the agency
The agency takes most decisions alone. The parent ministry is only partly involved and sets few restrictions	29	46
The agency takes most decisions alone after consulting the parent ministry	10	5
The agency takes most decisions alone in accordance with the constraints and restrictions set by the parent ministry	60	48
The parent ministry takes most decisions itself after consulting the agency	2	1
N=100%	146	146

For the rest of the analysis we constructed an additive index for operational policy autonomy. The index ranges from 2 (agencies take most decisions alone and the parent ministry is only partly involved and sets few restrictions when choosing both policy instruments as well as when it comes to task accomplishment) to 0 (not agreeing with this assertion either for policy instruments or for task accomplishment).⁵ 34 % of the agencies report a large degree of operational policy autonomy along both dimensions, 19 % report a lot of autonomy along one dimension, and 47 % say they do not have much autonomy along any dimension.

⁵ The correlation (Pearson's r) between the two variables that the index is based on is .57 (sign. .001). The index is constructed in the same way as for the other indexes, by counting occurrences of agencies reporting a large extent of operational policy autonomy with respect to the two dimensions (policy instruments and task accomplishment).

Steering and control. The relationship between superior bodies and the agencies is not only about autonomy. Steering and control represent the other side of the coin. This can take the form of various rules and regulations, like general rules for financial management; salary and personnel regulations; rules regulating safety, environmental, and health issues; and international rules, regulations, and standards issued by international organizations such as the EU or the WTO. Also the Ministry of Finance and the parent ministry may put specific constraints on the agencies. The parent ministry may have general rights of instruction on all issues, or there may be restrictions on its rights of instruction in specific cases.

Table 4 reveals, first, that most of the agencies report that they are constrained by general financial management regulations, something which was also shown in a comprehensive study of political and administrative executives in the Norwegian ministries, agencies, and state-owned companies in 2001 (Christensen and Lægreid 2002). In 1997 the Ministry of Finance introduced a new comprehensive set of regulations for financial management in central government based on principles of performance management, which was rather unpopular among the agencies. Some years later this critique resulted in revision and simplification of the finance management regulations, but still these rules and regulations seem to put strong constraints on many agencies. Second, we also see that, in spite of increased liberalization and decentralization of the rather centralized and standardized personnel and salary arrangements over the past 15 years, the agencies still report significant constraints from such rules and regulations. Here one should take into account the rather strong state employees' unions in Norway, which have considerable influence on such issues (Roness 2001).

Third, somewhat surprisingly in the light of the increased integration of the Norwegian central government into the EU (Jacobsson, Lægreid and Pedersen 2003), and also the increased importance of other international organizations as regulatory and standardization bodies, such international constraints seem to play a less important role than the general domestic regulations in the fields of finance, salaries, and personnel. Table 4 also shows that the control constraints from the parent ministry vary considerably between agencies, but also that the agencies generally report stronger constraints from their own parent ministry than from the Ministry of Finance. Here one should bear in mind that, following the reorganization of the state budget system in the mid-1990s, much of the financial allocation to the agencies was delegated from the Ministry of Finance to the parent ministries.

	Very large	Large	To some degree	Small	Very small	Do not know	N=100%
Financial management regulations							
	18	32	37	11	1	1	148
Salary and personnel regulations							
	12	45	30	11	1	1	148
Health, environmental, and safety							
regulations							
	7	28	28	23	12	1	148
International regulations and							
standards (i.e. EU, WTO)							
	8	14	22	33	19	3	147
Parent ministry							
	8	26	43	16	5	1	148
Ministry of Finance			_				
	6	15	7	26	10	6	145

Table 4. Control constraints on agencies from various rules, regulations and actors. Percentages.

There are strong significant intercorrelations between these control dimensions. We will thus use an additive index for control constraints, ranging from 0 (very large constraints on none of the dimensions in Table 4) to 6 (very large constraints on all regulations and actors).⁶ 73 % of the agencies do not report very large constraints from any of these rules, regulations, or actors.

In addition, we will include a variable that reveals whether there are rules and regulations which restrict the parent ministry's power to instruct the agency. 45 % report that there are such restrictions. These types of restrictions are normally relevant for certain areas of agency activities and may be enshrined in law, but in some cases they cover all activities. They can be case-specific, but also of a more general character.

Interdependencies. Another interesting question is whether perceived autonomy along the different dimensions indicates some kind of cumulative pattern, whether there are certain clusters of autonomy, or whether there is a differentiated pattern. Table 6 shows that the dimensions are quite loosely coupled. There is not a cumulative pattern, indicating that if there is a high degree of autonomy along one dimension, there is not always a high degree of autonomy along other dimensions. There are, however, some clusters, so the pattern is not totally differentiated. Thus, there is a significant positive correlation between strategic personnel autonomy and operational personnel autonomy and also between operational personnel autonomy and financial autonomy. Interestingly enough, there are no significant negative correlations between the different autonomy dimensions.

⁶ The intercorrelations are significant at the .01 level and Pearson's r is between .67 and .21 for all correlations. The index is constructed by counting the occurrences of agencies reporting to very strong control constraints according to the six different dimensions of control constraints.

	Operational personnel autonomy	Financial Management autonomy	Strategic policy autonomy	Operational policy autonomy
Strategic personnel autonomy	,45**	,15	-,07	,11
Operational personnel autonomy		,32**	,05	,11
Financial management autonomy			,05	,14
Strategic policy autonomy				,05

Table 5. Intercorrelations between dependent variables. Pearson's r.

**: Significant at the 0.01 level; *: Significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Summing up, this picture confirms that the autonomy dimensions vary, as revealed from other studies (Christensen 2001, Verhorst et al. 2004). This does not mean, however, that agencies score high along some dimensions and low on others. Instead, the general impression is of positive correlations between some autonomy dimensions and rather loose or indifferent correlations between others.

Bivariate and multivariate analyses

The next questions on which we focus are how the scores on the different independent variables, i.e. our indicators of structural, cultural, and environmental features, correlate with the autonomy and control variables. We first examine the bivariate relations between each set of variables and the different autonomy and control dimensions, and then do a multivariate analysis of the relative importance of the various variables for agency autonomy and control.

Structural features. Are there any differences in perceived autonomy and control according to the structural features of the agencies? Table 6 reveals that, except for financial autonomy, form of affiliation has no significant effect on autonomy and control. This means that structural disaggregation makes a difference when it comes to perceived financial autonomy. Agencies with some form and degree of formal autonomy generally report a large degree of financial autonomy on more indicators than ordinary agencies. For personnel autonomy, policy autonomy, and control constraints, form of affiliation does not seem to be of any great significance. Thus, in general, H1 is not confirmed.

	Strategic personnel autonomy	Operational personnel autonomy	Financial autonomy	Strategic policy autonomy	Opera- tional policy autonomy	Control con- straints	Constraints on instructions
Structural							
variables:							
Form of affiliation	.01	.10	.26**	.13	12	.14	.01
Type of agency	14	.03	18*	08	23**	.09	.09
Primary tasks:							
-service providing	21**	03	.27**	.00	.04	05	.03
-regulation	.04	05	24**	.03	10	.01	.01
Cultural							
variables:							
Agency age	.14	.11	05	03	.13	01	20*
Agency size	.04	.38**	.07	04	06	.13	04
Mutual trust	.06	06	.03	07	.08	.21*	06
Professional culture	.07	07	.05	14	.17*	.05	.01
Customer and service culture	.14	.07	.02	10	.14	06	.02
Environmental							
variables:							
Market competition	18*.	.04	.26**	.05	.04	.01	.08

Table 6 Bivariate correl	lations between	independent an	nd dependent	variables. 1	Pearson's r.
		···· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

**: Significant at the .01 level; *: Significant at the .05 level (2-tailed)

Like the form of affiliation, type of agency makes a difference when it comes to financial autonomy, but this structural feature is also of importance for operational policy autonomy. Agencies specialized mainly according to geography normally have less strategic personnel autonomy, less financial autonomy, and also less operational policy autonomy than agencies without territorial branches. These correlations are the opposite of what our formulated hypothesis (H2) led us to expect. One possible explanation is that no agency only uses the principle of geography, since all agencies with a territorial base are also specialized according to purpose, process or clientele, being either directly subordinated a ministry or having a central agency between itself and the ministry. Thus the principles of specialization are combined, and in practice other principles are more important for understanding the degree of autonomy than the principle of geography.

When it comes to primary tasks, agencies with regulatory tasks or service providing or producing tasks do not in general perceive themselves to have more autonomy than agencies with other primary tasks. On the contrary, agencies with service providing or producing tasks have generally less strategic personnel autonomy than agencies with other tasks, but more financial autonomy. For regulatory agencies financial autonomy is generally low. Thus, when it comes to service providing or producing agencies, our stated hypothesis (H3) is only confirmed for financial autonomy.

Cultural features. The general impression of Table 6 is that cultural features have relatively few significant effects on autonomy and control. Agency age is only significantly correlated with constraints on instructions from the parent ministry. Thus, in general, H4 is not confirmed. Agency size has a significant positive effect on operational personnel autonomy, meaning that large agencies generally have more autonomy in individual hiring, promotion, pay setting, and dismissals than smaller units. Overall, however, neither of the hypotheses on the importance of agency size (H5a, H5b) is confirmed.

Mutual trust has a significant positive effect on the control constraints index, meaning that agencies perceiving a very high level of mutual trust between the agency and the parent ministry also report fewer constraints on many regulations and from central actors. For the other dimensions of autonomy and control, trust is of less relevance. Thus, in general, our stated hypothesis (H6) is not confirmed. This may be due to the generally high level of trust and little variation between agencies with regard to this cultural feature: most of the agencies report a very high or a high level of mutual trust between the agency and the ministry.

Internal professional culture makes a difference when it comes to operational policy autonomy. Agencies with very good professional quality have more operational policy autonomy than other agencies. Thus, H7a is confirmed for the most relevant case, but not otherwise. With regard to the importance of customer and service culture, the stated hypothesis (H7b) is not confirmed for any dimension of autonomy and control.

Environmental features. The hypothesis on the degree and variation of autonomy and control (H8) is a bit difficult to evaluate. As shown in Tables1 to 4, for some of the chosen dimensions most agencies score high on autonomy and low on steering and control. As mentioned above (cf. Table 6), there are also some significant correlations between organizational features and autonomy and control, but the main picture is little variation between agency forms. However, even if a null hypothesis on no or low variation was to be confirmed, it would not tell us much about what features may affect agency autonomy and control. The fact that agency age seems to be of little relevance may indicate that internal agency-specific norms established over time are less important than the dominant external administrative doctrines of our time coming from the NPM-movement, which certifies agency autonomy as a «best practice.» Another interpretation may be that our indicators on agency culture are not able to reveal the specific historical legacy that characterizes the various Norwegian agencies.

With regard to the more specific hypothesis on the importance of environmental features, agencies which operate in a market or in a quasi-market situation facing competition have less strategic personnel autonomy than other agencies. They do, however, have greater financial autonomy. In general, the stated hypothesis (H9) is not confirmed.

Multivariate analysis

We now turn to the question of the relative explanatory power of the different independent variables on agency autonomy and control.⁷ The multivariate analyses generally confirm the main pattern revealed in the bivariate analyses. One general finding from the multivariate analysis, summed up in Table 7, is that the independent variables explain only a small part of the variation in the dependent variables. After controlling for other variables there are few significant correlations. The structural-instrumental perspective has some explanatory power for financial autonomy and operational policy autonomy. National agencies with no regional or local branches normally have more financial autonomy and operational policy autonomy than other agencies. This is somewhat surprising given our initial hypothesis (H2). Form of affiliation does not, however, have any significant effect on agency autonomy and control (H1). This is surprising, given the importance that this variable is assigned in administrative reforms and recent regulatory reforms.

When it comes to cultural variables, agency age has a significant effect on the scope of ministries to instruct the agencies, and agency size also makes a difference for operational personnel autonomy. Also the mutual trust between agency and ministry has a significant effect when it comes to constraints on the agencies imposed by general regulations, the parent ministry, or the Ministry of Finance. However, other cultural features, like the extent of professional culture does not seem to influence perceived autonomy and control to any significant extent. Market competition has not a significant effect when controlling for structural and cultural features.

⁷ Only variables with significant bivariate correlations are included in the analysis.

	Strategic personnel autonomy	Operational personnel autonomy	Financial autonomy	Operational policy autonomy	Control con- straints	Constraints on instructions
Structural variables:						
Form of affiliation	-	-	.14	-	-	-
Type of agency	-	-	15*	20**	-	-
Primary task:						
-service provision	15	-	.11	-	-	-
-regulation	-	-	09	-	-	-
Cultural variables:						
Agency age	-	-	-	-	-	20**
Agency size	-	.38**	-	-		-
Mutual trust	-	-	-	-	.21*	-
Professional culture	-	-	-	.14	-	-
Environmental variables:						
Market competition	11	-	.12	-	-	-
Multiple R	.23	.38	.38	.26	.21	.20
R2	.05	.14	.14	.07	.04	.04
Adjusted R2	.04	.14	.11	.05	.04	.03
F statistics	3.968	2.403	4.711	5.043	6.523	5.844
Significance of F	.021	.000	.001	.008	.012	.017

Table 7. Summary of regression equations by structural, cultural and environmental features affecting agency autonomy and control. Standardized Beta coefficients. Linear regressions.

**: Significant at the .01-level; *: Significant at the .05-level (2-tailed). -: not included in the analysis

Summing up, the explanatory power of our perspectives is relatively weak, but we find some significant effects from structural and cultural variables. Autonomy seems to be a multi-dimensional concept, and there is no one-factor explanation for variation in agency autonomy.

Discussion

In this section we will discuss our findings in relation to other studies on autonomy and control in public-sector agencies and companies. Studies of different forms of affiliation indicate that government control of state-owned companies is seen as overly formal and relatively passive, and also that the sub-forms have many similar features, with little differentiation between company types. There is no close match between the legal status and operational practice of each sub-form (Grønlie 2001, Statskonsult 1998). A plausible conclusion from the existing studies is that while organizational form matters, it does not closely determine the pattern of autonomy and control. Even if the form of affiliation allows significant leeway for a trade-off between different objectives and values, it is fair to say that, generally speaking, the possibilities for political control decrease with increasing structural disaggregation from the ministries (Wik 2002). The extent of agency contact with ministries drops when they are converted from organizational forms that are close to the ministries to forms that are further away from them, and less weight is given to signals from the political executive (Egeberg 1989). The hypothesis is that structural devolution weakens the instruments of control and increases the autonomy of independent agencies. Surveys of the Norwegian civil service have shown that civil servants in central agencies outside the ministries see political signals and considerations as significantly less important for decision-making than civil servants inside the ministries (Christensen and Egeberg 1997, Christensen and Lægreid 1998), and structural devolution tends to reduce the steering power of the political executive (Christensen and Lægreid 2005b).

Our findings in this paper confirm that agencies generally have large autonomy, but also that organizational forms represent rather rough and broad categories that allow variations in actual autonomy and control. This means that variations within the same organizational form might be larger than variations between different forms (Verhoest et al. 2004, Wik 2002). When assessing these findings one also has to take into account the effects of sampling on the dependent variable (Peters 2004, Geddes 2003). By focusing on organizations that are meant to be relatively autonomous we may not be able to understand whether the degree of autonomy observed is atypical or typical for all state organizations. Including a fuller range of state organizations at the national level might have given a better understanding of the consequences of organizational form. This might especially have been the case if we had not only studied sub-forms within the agency model but also included ministries and state-owned companies. Our findings seem to indicate that the sub-form of affiliation is of less importance than whether the agency has regional/local branches or not.

The effects of form of affiliation are also modified by contextual factors, in Norway as well as in other countries. There are trade-offs between autonomy and control between countries, but also between and within different forms of affiliation within the same country (Wik 2002). Even in the same agency or state organization there may be significant variation over time, across different policy areas or according to performance, results, and political situation (Grønlie 2001). This implies that structure matters, but also that each organizational form is quite broad, allowing for variation in practice. One lesson is that one should be careful about regarding form of affiliation and other structural features as determining autonomy and steering relations and instead perceive them as a repertoire of agency forms hosting potential actions and rules that can be activated under different contextual circumstances. This being said, this study has also revealed that agencies generally have great autonomy especially when it comes to operational autonomy, indicating that the agency model, as expected from a structuralinstrumental approach, gives a lot of leeway and discretion to the agencies included.

One important contextual feature is the administrative culture and tradition in which the agencies operate. Such norms can either be agency-specific, representing vertical depth, or more general covering the whole of central government, representing horizontal width (Krasner 1988). In this paper we have primarily tried to reveal the first type of administrative culture. Our findings are that some of our indicators have some effects on autonomy and steering relations, but they are not particularly strong. Nevertheless, broader and more general administrative norms that do not differentiate to any strong degree between agencies may also have an effect.

One comprehensive comparative study of agencies in the fields of prisons, meteorology, forestry, and social security in four EU countries concludes that there is high variability in agencies and volatility in agency status and boundaries, that the official practitioner's ideal model is rare in reality, that there is extensive national path dependency, that there is great variation in activities according to the agency's primary tasks, but also according to how embedded they are in international networks and markets, that performance indicators are widespread but seldom used to clarify major trade-offs, and that full-scale performance management is rare (Pollitt et al. 2004). Our study indicates that primary tasks may make a difference, even if our measures do not have a great impact and are not significant when controlling for other features. Agencies that are primarily concerned with service providing or producing tasks tend to have more autonomy along some dimensions than agencies involved in other types of tasks.

External pressure, represented by the degree of competition and the extent to which international markets, rules, and regulations are involved, also makes a difference when it comes to autonomy and steering of agencies (Pollitt et al. 2004). In our case, market competition seems to have some influence on strategic personnel autonomy, but not on other autonomy dimensions, and the effects are not significant when controlling for structural and cultural factors.

Summing up, the lesson is that context matters, and that there is no best way of governing regulatory agencies. Neither the organizational structure, nor the daily practical work, nor the steering of agencies is standardized. The structural-instrumental perspective can provide some insights into the processes of autonomization and control, but less than expected by reform agents or by other believers in the importance of formal structure. Agency practice is more diverse and context-dependent than the official model implies. Formal structure cannot be seen in isolation and as a narrow internal feature of organizations but must be extended to include task structure and the historical-institutional context and external networks and situations in which an agency is involved. A main observation is that one cannot easily infer from regulatory reform programs and formal agency structure how autonomy and control will be exercised in practice. Agency status in itself is an uncertain predictor of steering relationships (Pollitt

et al. 2004), especially when it comes to variations between different sub-forms of agencies. The legal status and formal powers of the agencies represent broad categories that allow for huge variations in actual behavior. There are great variations in how the rules for control, instructions, and appeals are formulated for different agencies and how they are practised (Christensen and Lægreid 2004b). We have to go beyond the legal status and formal powers of the regulatory agencies and examine the 'living' organizations to understand how agency autonomy is exercised in practice (Pollitt et al. 2004).

Conclusion

In this paper we have shown, first, that the agencies have quite a lot of autonomy. The general pattern is that the trade-off between autonomy and control tends to tip in favor of autonomy. There are, however, significant variations in the degree of autonomy along different dimensions. There is generally higher autonomy in personnel matters than in financial matters, but the agencies also report a relatively high degree of autonomy with regard to policy. Furthermore, more autonomy is perceived in operational matters than in more strategic matters. However, this autonomy is not absolute but is constrained to a relatively large degree by general rules, regulations, and procedures in the fields of finance, salaries, and personnel. This general picture is important and reveals that agencies have a scope and degree of autonomy which is in accordance with the general presumptions from a structural-instrumental approach that an agency model will enhance autonomy.

Second, agency autonomy is not of a general nature. The different dimensions of autonomy do not represent a cumulative pattern. Some autonomy dimensions represent a cluster and supplement one another, while others are rather loosely coupled. However, few indicators are negative correlated, meaning that a high score on one autonomy dimension does not go together with a low score on others.

Third, we were not able to explain much of the variance in the dependent variables, i.e. perceived agency autonomy and control. The formulated hypotheses based on the selected variables derived from the structural-instrumental, the cultural-institutional, and the environmental approach generally do not get strong support in the empirical analyses. Thus, the answer to the question posed in the title of our paper «Does agency form matter?» must be «not very much»; this goes for cultural and environmental features as well. We have, however, mainly studied variations between sub-forms of agencies and the effect of structural forms may be different if we had distinguished between agencies and other main forms of affiliation for state organizations.

Fourth, that said, there are some significant relationships related to variables derived from all three perspectives. From a structural-instrumental perspective, type of agency and also primary tasks make a difference for some autonomy and control dimensions. Seen from a cultural-institutional perspective, agency size, agency age, and also mutual trust have some explanatory power. Market competition seems to affect the degree of strategic personnel autonomy and financial autonomy, but is weakened when controlled for other features. Thus, a lesson from this study is that there is no one-factor explanation for variations in agency autonomy and control. There is no single best theory which can explain agency activity in all situations and everywhere (Pollitt 2004). One has to look for explanatory factors among structural features, among cultural variables, and in the environment. Instead of deriving explanations based on one dominant logic, the challenge is to develop more complex propositions about how agencies work in practice. Another lesson is that there is a need to look for other variables derived from these perspectives, as well as from other approaches to gain a better understanding of the variation in agency autonomy and control.

Literature

- Bouckaert, G. and B.G. Peters (2004) «What is available and what is missing in the study of quangos?». In C. Pollitt and C. Talbot, eds. Unbundled Government. London: Routledge.
- Christensen, J.G. (2001) «Bureaucratic autonomy as a political asset.» In B.G. Peters and J. Pierre, eds. *Politicians, Bureaucrats and Administrative Reform.* London: Routledge.
- Christensen, T. and M. Egeberg (1997) «Sentraladministrasjonen en oversikt over trekk ved departementer og direktorater» (Central Government a survey on the characteristics of ministries and directorates). In T. Christensen and M. Egeberg, eds. *Forvaltningskunnskap*. Oslo: Tano Aschehoug.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (1998) «Administrative Reform Policy: The Case of Norway», International Review of Administrative Sciences, 64: 457–475.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid, eds. (2001) New Public Management. The Transformation of Ideas and Practice. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2002) Reformer og lederskap. Omstilling i den utøvende makt (Reforms and Leadership. Renewal in the Executive Power). Oslo: Scandinavian University Press.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2003) «Coping with Complex Leadership Roles: The Problematic Redefinition of Government-Owned Enterprises», *Public Administration*, 81: 803–831.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2004a) «Governmental Autonomization and Control: The Norwegian Way», *Public Administration and Development*, 24: 129–135.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2004b) «Regulatory Agencies the Challenges of Balancing Agency Autonomy and Political Control.» Paper presented at the 20th Anniversary Conference of the Structure and Organization of Government Research Committee of the International Political Science Association, Vancouver, June 15–17, 2004.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2005a) «Trust in Government the relative importance of service satisfaction, political factors and demography», *Public Performance & Management Review*. (forthcoming)
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2005b) «Autonomization and Policy Capacity the dilemmas and challenges facing political executives.» In M. Painter and J. Pierre, eds. *Challenges to State Policy Capacity*. London: Palgrave.
- Christensen, T. and P. Lægreid (2005c) «Agencification and regulatory reform». Paper prepared for the SCANCOR/SOG workshop on «Autonomization of the state: From integrated administrative models to single purpose organizations.» Stanford University, April 1–2, 2005.
- Christensen, T. and P.G. Roness (1999) «Den historiske arven Norge» (The historical legacy Norway). In P. Lægreid and O.K. Pedersen, eds. *Fra opbygning til ombygning i staten*. Copenhagen: Jurist- og Økonomforbundets Forlag.
- Egeberg, M. (1989) «Om å organisere konkurrerende beslutningsprinsipper inn i myndighetsstrukturer» (On organizing competing decision premises into governmental structures). In M. Egeberg, ed. Institusjonspolitikk og forvaltningsutvikling. Bidrag til en anvendt statsvitenskap. Oslo: Tano.

- Egeberg, M. (2003) «How Bureaucratic Structure Matters: An Organizational Perspective.» In B.G. Peters and J. Pierre, eds. *Handbook of Public Administration*. London: Sage.
- Geddes, B. (2003) Paradigms and Sand Castles. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Gilardi, F. (2004) «Institutional change in regulatory policies: regulation through independent agencies and the three new institutionalisms.» In J. Jordana and D. Levi-Faur, eds. *The Politics of Regulation*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Graham, A. and A. Roberts (2004) «The Agency Concept in North America.» In C. Pollitt and C. Talbot, eds. Unbundled Government. London: Routledge.
- Grønlie, T. (1999) Forvaltning for politikk (Administration and politics). Bergen: Fagbokforlaget.
- Grønlie, T. (2001) «Mellom politikk og marked organisering av statlig næringsdrift» (Between politics and market – organizing state industry). In B.S. Tranøy and Ø. Østerud, eds. *Den fragmenterte staten*. Oslo: Gyldendal Akademisk.
- Gulick, L. (1937) «Notes on the Theory on Organizations. With Special Reference to Government.» In L. Gulick and L. Urwick, eds. Papers on the Science of Administration. New York: A.M. Kelley.
- Jacobsson, B. (1984) Hur styrs forvaltningen? Myt och verklighet kring departementens styrning av Ämbetsverken (How is the Civil Service steered? Myth and Reality on the Control of the Agencies by the Ministries). Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Jacobsson, B., P. Lægreid and O.K. Pedersen (2003) Europeanization and Transnational States. Comparing Nordic Central Governments. London: Routledge.
- Krasner, S. (1988) «Sovereignty: An Institutional Perspective», Comparative Political Studies, 21: 66–94.
- Listhaug, O. (1995) «The Dynamics of Trust in Politicians.» In H.-D. Klingemann and D. Fuchs, eds. *Citizens and the State.* Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Listhaug, O. (1998) «Confidence in Political Institutions: Norway 1982–1996.» Paper presented at the research seminar at the Centre of Nordic Policy Studies, University of Aberdeen, November 27, 1998.
- Lægreid, P., V. Rolland, P.G. Roness and J.-E. Ågotnes (2003) «The structural anatomy of the Norwegian state 1947–2003.» Bergen: Rokkan Centre, Working Paper 12/2003.
- Lægreid, P., V. Rolland. P.G. Roness, K. Rubecksen and J.-E. Ågotnes (2004) «State organizations and agencies: A description of the Norwegian survey on organizational autonomy, steering and control.» Paper prepared for the Dublin Agencies' Seminar, Dublin, December 2–3, 2004.
- March, J.G. and J.P. Olsen (1989) Rediscovering Institutions. The Organizational Basis of Politics. New York: Free Press.
- March, J.G. and H.A. Simon (1958) Organizations. New York: Wiley.
- Norris, P. (1999) Critical Citizens. Global Support for Democratic Governance. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Olsen, J.P. (1992) «Analyzing Institutional Dynamics», Staatswissenschaften und Staatspraxis, 3: 247-271.
- Peters, B.G. (2004) «Studying Autonomous and Quasi-Autonomous organizations in the USA.» Paper presented at the Dublin Agencies' Seminar, Dublin, December 2–3, 2004.
- Pierre, J. (2004) «Central agencies in Sweden.» In C. Pollitt and C. Talbot, eds. Unbundled Government. London: Routledge.
- Pollitt, C. (2004) «Theoretical overview.» In C. Pollitt and C. Talbot, eds. Unbundled Government. London: Routledge.
- Pollitt, C. and G. Bouckaert (2004) *Public Management Reform.* Second Edition. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Pollitt, C., C. Talbot, J. Caulfield and A. Smullen (2004) Agencies. How Governments do Things Through Semi-Autonomous Organizations. London: Palgrave.
- Roness, P.G. (2001) «Transforming state employees' unions.» In T. Christensen and P. Lægreid, eds. New Public Management. The Transformation of Ideas and Practice. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- Rubecksen. K. (2003) Organisatoriske trekk, oppgaver og inntekter i statlige forvaltningsorganer. En sammenlignende studie av statlige forvaltningsorganer i Norge i 1989 og 1999 (Organizational

features, tasks and incomes in civil service organizations. A comparative study of Norwegian state civil service organizations in 1989 and 1999). Bergen: Department of Administration and Organization Theory, unpublished master's thesis.

- Rubecksen. K. (2004) «Civil Service Organizations in Norway: Organizational Features and Tasks.» Bergen: Rokkan Centre, Working Paper 20/2004.
- Sahlin-Andersson, K. (1996) «Imitation by editing success: the construction of organizational fields.» In B. Czarniawska and G. Sevon, eds. *Translating Organizational Change*. Berlin: De Gruyter.
- Selznick, P. (1957) Leadership in Administration. New York: Harper & Row.
- Statskonsult (1998) I godt selskap? Statlig eierstyring i teori og praksis (In good company? Government steering in theory and practice). Oslo: Statskonsult.
- St.meld. nr. 17 (2002–2003) Om statlige tilsyn (On regulatory agencies). Oslo: Ministry of Labour and Public Administration.
- Thatcher, M. and A. Stone Sweet (2002) «Theory and Practice of Delegation to Non-Majoritarian Institutions», *West European Politics*, 25: 1–22.
- Verhoest, K., B. Verschuere and G. Bouckaert (2003) Agentschappen in Vlaanderen: een beschrijvende analyse (Agencies in Flanders: A descriptive analysis). Leuven: Steunpunkt Bestuurlijke Organisatie Vlaanderen.
- Verhorst, K., B.G. Peters, G. Bouckaert and B. Verschuere (2004) «The study of organizational autonomy: A conceptual and methodological review», *Public Administration and Development*, 24: 101– 118.
- Wik, M.H. (2002) «Mangfold eller konformitet? Likheter og forskjeller innenfor og mellom fem statlige tilknytningsformer.» (Variety or conformity? Similarities and differences within and between five state forms of affiliation). Bergen: Rokkan Centre, Working Paper 10/2002.

Appendix

Independent variables

Form of affiliation

In the Norwegian State Administration Database we distinguish between four subforms of affiliation for civil service organizations outside the ministries: a) directorates/central agencies, b) other public administration bodies, c) agencies with extended authority, and d) government administrative enterprises (cf. Lægreid et al. 2003). The first two types are also often called ordinary civil service organizations (or ordinary agencies), and are most closely linked to the ministries and subjected to general governmental regulative frameworks and regulations encompassing virtually all sides of their activity. Government administrative enterprises represent the opposite side of the continuum, primarily used for state organizations maintaining governmental business management, and are as such given wide financial latitude. A civil service organization with extended authority is a sub-form where the organizations formally have been granted some professional and financial leeway in relation to political steering/control and regulative frameworks. This sub-form is somewhere in between ordinary civil service organizations and government administrative enterprises.

Due to the relatively low number of agencies with extended authority, and particularly government administrative enterprises, we will only distinguish between ordinary agencies and other agencies

1. Other agencies	15
0. Ordinary agencies	85
N=100 %	150

Table A1: Form of affiliation. Percentage.

Type of agency

We distinguish between three types of agency with regard to their territorial coverage: a) *National agencies* have no subordinate units, and form the only state organization of its kind in the country; b) *Integrated agencies* have a central unit and one or more subordinate units located in different geographical areas; c) *Regional agencies* are units covering a specific territorial area, reporting directly to one or more ministry. The data on type of agency is also extracted from the Norwegian State Administration Database.

Table A2: Type of agency. Percentage.	

1.National agency	51
2. Integrated agency	19
3. Regional agency	30
N=100 %	150

Primary task

In the survey, questions were formulated in order to gather information on both primary (main) and secondary (additional) tasks of various kinds that an organization can attend to. We used five categories for tasks according to the possible engagement in the following: a) regulation and scrutiny, b) other kinds of exercising authority, c) general public services, d) business and industrial services, and e) policy formulation. *Regulation and scrutiny* was singled out as a separate category from other kinds of exercising authority, due to the specific and circumscribed nature of these tasks. For *service provision and production*, a distinction was made between tasks which primarily are carried out on a non-profit basis (general public services) and those who are on some form of a market (business and industrial services). The category of policy formulation includes policy shaping as well as policy formulation.

In total, 33 answered that their primary task was regulation and scrutiny, 37 had other kinds of exercising authority, 69 had general public services, 7 had business and industrial services, and 4 had policy formulation. Due partly to the actual number of agencies in each category, and partly to the main interest in this paper, we distinguish between regulation and scrutiny, other kinds of exercising public authority/policy formulation, and service provision and production.

Regulation and scrutiny	23
Other kinds of exercising public authority (and policy formulation)	27
Service provision and production	50
N=100 %	150

Table A3: Primary task in agencies. Percentage.

This variable is also used in two dichotomous variants:

a) 1: regulation and scrutiny, 0: other tasks;

b) 1: service provision and production, 0: other tasks

Agency age

The data on agency age has been extracted from the Norwegian State Administration Database, which provides detailed information on year of establishment. In this paper we use a dichotomy: agencies established before 1990, and agencies established in 1990 or later. The cut is partly based on the gradually greater scope and intensity of the NMP movement from 1990 onwards (Lægreid et al. 2003).

Table A4: Agency age. Percentage.

1. Established before 1990	61
0. Established 1990 or later	39
N=100 %	150

Agency size

In the survey, the question of agency size used a predetermined set of categories for the number of employees (including subordinate branches): a) under 20, b) 20–49, c) 50–199, d) 200–499, and e) 500 and over. In this paper we use three categories, as shown in Table A5.

Table A5: Agency size. Percentage.

3. 200 employees and more	40
2. 50–199 employees	34
1. Less than 50 employees	26
N=100 %	147

Mutual trust

In the survey we asked for the extent of mutual trust between the agency and the parent ministry. The question originally gave the respondents the opportunity of choosing between five different categories: a) very high mutual trust, b) rather high mutual trust, c) high and low mutual trust, d) rather low mutual trust, e) very low mutual trust. Less than 8 % reported having a level on trust in category c) or lower, while a majority reported a very high level. Thus, in this paper we have used a dichotomy: very high mutual trust vs. rather high mutual trust or lower.

Table A6: Mutual trust between agency and parent ministry as seen from the agency. Percentage.

1. Very high mutual trust	53
0. Rather high mutual trust or lower	47
N=100 %	146

Administrative culture

One set of questions in the survey aimed at assessing different aspects of the prevailing administrative culture in the agency: «Assess the agency as it exists today. How well is (each of the following 16 aspects) attended to in the agency? Try to see the agency at

distance.» For each aspect there was a scale: very bad, bad, average, good, and very good.

In this paper we have selected two aspects as indicators of administrative culture: professional quality, and customer and service culture. Only a small part of the agencies gave an assessment below average for professional quality (1 %) and customer and service culture (8 %). A large majority assessed professional quality very good (35 %) or good (52 %), while the score on customer and service culture was a bit lower (15% very good and 52 % good). For both aspects we use a dichotomy, but the cut is different to avoid skewed distributions.

	<i>J I J</i>	1 5	0 2	0
1. Very good			35	
0. Good or less			65	
N=100 %			145	

Table A7: Assessment of professional quality in the agency. Percentage.

Table A8: Assessment of customer and service culture in the agency .Percentage.

1. Very good or good	67
0. Average or less	33
N=100 %	145

Market competition

Several questions were related to the extent of competition perceived by the agencies. First: «Taking the primary task of the organization as the point of departure – are there any other organizations carrying out the same or similar tasks and/or services within your field of work?» Here, 44 % of all agencies answered yes. They were posed a follow-up-question: «If yes, is the agency in a market or a quasi-market characterized by competition?» Some of them (36 %) answered no, while the majority answered yes to some extent (43 %) or to a large extent (22 %). Here, we only distinguish between whether the agencies are in a market or a quasi-market characterized by competition or not.

Table A9: Is the agency in a market or a quasi-market characterized by competition? Percentage.

1. Yes	30
0. No	70
N=100 %	150

WORKING PAPERS ROKKANSENTERET (ISSN 1503-0946)

The publications can be ordered from Rokkansenteret, tel +47 55 58 97 10,

e-mail: post@rokkan.uib.no, http://www.rokkansenteret.uib.no

2005

- **1-2005** *Ivar A. Lima og Agnete Vabø:* «Instituttstruktur og fakultetsorganisering ved HF-fakultetet, Universitetet i Bergen». Mai 2005.
- 2-2005 Dag Arne Christensen og Jacob Aars: «Modalen: Fra off-road til on-line på 25 år». Mai 2005.
- 3-2005 Nanna Kildal: «Fra arbeidsbegrepets historie: Aristoteles til Marx». Mai 2005.
- **4-2005** *Per Lægreid, Paul G. Roness and Kristin Rubecksen:* «Autonomy and Control in the Norwegian Civil Service: Does Agency Form Matter?». September 2005.

2004

- **1-2004** Dag Olaf Torjesen and Hallgeir Gammelsæter: «Management Between Autonomy and Transparency in the Enterprise Hospital». January 2004.
- **2-2004** *Haldor Byrkjeflot and Simon Neby:* «The Decentralized Path Challenged? Nordic Health Care Reforms in Comparison». January 2004.
- **3-2004** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «The Fragmented State the Challenges of Combining Efficiency, Institutional Norms and Democracy». March 2004.
- 4-2004 Morten Dyrdal: «Europeisering av tilsynsmyndigheter i Norge og Sverige». Mars 2004.
- 5-2004 Karsten Vrangbæk and Katarina Østergren: «The Introduction of Choice in Scandinavian Hospital Systems. Arguments and Policy Processes in the Danish and the Norwegian Case». March 2004.
- **6-2004** *Marit Tjomsland*: «Internationalization at Norwegian Universities and Colleges after the Quality Reform». April 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **7-2004** Hans-Tore Hansen, Anne Hege Trædal-Henden, Olaf Jürgens and Wolfgang Voges: «Poverty among Households with Children: A Comparative Study of Lone Parents and Couples with Children in Norway and Germany». April 2004.
- **8-2004** *Renate Storetvedt Lien og Arnhild Taksdal* «Integrering av kjønnsperspektiv i offentlig tjenesteproduksjon og planlegging». Mai 2004.
- **9-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy og Synnøve Serigstad:* «Tilsyn som styringsform i forholdet mellom staten og kommunene». Mai 2004.
- **10-2004** Morten Dyrdal: «Legemiddeltilsyn og europeisering». September 2004.
- **11-2004** *Bodil Ravneberg:* «Økonomiske insentiv i arbeidslinjen, virker det? Evaluering av forsøksordning med kvalifiseringsstønad i 'Prosjektet Amalie' i Åsane». Oktober 2004.
- **12-2004** *Per Lægreid and Synnøve Serigstad:* «Organizing for Homeland Security: The Case of Norway». November 2004.
- **13-2004** *Ivar Bleiklie:* «Institutional Conditions and the Responsibilities of Universities». November 2004.
- 14-2004 Lise Hellebø: «Food Safety at Stake the Establishment of Food Agencies». November 2004.
- **15-2004** *Katarina Østergren:* «The Institutional Construction of Consumerism. A Study of Implementing Quality Indicators». November 2004.
- **16-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy and Anne Homme:* «Governance in Primary and Lower Secondary Education. Comparing Norway, Sweden and England». November 2004.
- **17-2004** *Tom Christensen, Per Lægreid and Inger Marie Stigen:* «Performance Management and Public Sector Reform: The Norwegian Hospial Reform». December 2004.
- **18-2004** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Regulatory Agencies The Challenges of Balancing Agency Autonomy and Political Control». December 2004.
- **19-2004** *Dag Arne Christensen*: «Velferdsstat, rettighetslovgivning og lokalt selvstyre». Desember 2004.
- **20-2004** *Kristin Rubecksen:* «Civil Service Organizations in Norway: Organizational Features and Tasks». December 2004.
- **21-2004** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Odd Rune Straume and Lars Sørgard:* «National Versus International Mergers in Unionised Oligopoly». December 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **22-2004** *Birte Folgerø Johannessen*: «Ledelse og evidens i det psykiske helsevernet, konsekvenser for kunnskapsforståelse og organisering». Desember 2004.

- 23-2004 Jacob Aars og Svein Kvalvåg: «Politiske uttrykksformer i en bykontekst». Desember 2004.
- **24-2004** *Ingrid Helgøy:* «Active Ageing in the Labour Market. Country Report Norway». December 2004.
- **25-2004** *Torgeir Sveri*: «Strukturer og reformer. En kvalitativ analyse av reformen 'Enhetlig ledelse' sett i lys av sykehusets arbeidsorganisering». Desember 2004.
- **26-2004** *Stig Helleren:* «Arbeidstilsynets rollekonflikt: Vekslende tilsynsstrategier mellom kontroll og veiledning». Desember 2004.
- **27-2004** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Frode Meland and Odd Rune Straume*: «Globalisation and Union Opposition to Technological Change». December 2004. The Globalization Program.
- **28-2004** *Frode Meland:* «A Union Bashing Model of Inflation Targeting». December 2004. The Globalization Program.

2003

- **1-2003** *Tom Christensen og Per Lægreid:* «Politisk styring og privatisering: holdninger i elitene og befolkningen». Mars 2003.
- **2-2003** *Ivar Bleiklie, Per Lægreid and Marjoleine H. Wik:* «Changing Government Control in Norway: High Civil Service, Universities and Prisons». March 2003.
- **3-2003** *Badi H. Baltagi, Espen Bratberg and Tor Helge Holmås:* «A Panel Data Study of Physicians' Labor Supply: The Case of Norway». March 2003. HEB.
- **4-2003** *Kjell Erik Lommerud, Frode Meland and Lars Sørgard*: «Unionised Oligopoly, Trade Liberalisation and Location Choice». March 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 5-2003 Lise Hellebø: «Nordic Alcohol Policy and Globalization as a Changing Force». April 2003.
- 6-2003 *Kim Ove Hommen:* «Tilsynsroller i samferdselssektoren». April 2003.
- **7-2003** *Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:* «Trust in Government the Significance of Attitudes Towards Democracy, the Public Sector and Public Sector Reforms». April 2003.
- **8-2003** *Rune Ervik:* «Global Normative Standards and National Solutions for Pension Provision: The World Bank, ILO, Norway and South Africa in Comparative Perspective». April 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 9-2003 Nanna Kildal: «The Welfare State: Three Normative Tensions». Mai 2003.
- 10-2003 Simon Neby: «Politisk styring og institusjonell autonomi tre illustrasjoner». Mai 2003.
- **11-2003** *Nina Berven:* «Cross National Comparison and National Contexts: Is what we Compare Comparable?». July 2003. The Globalization Program.
- **12-2003** *Hilde Hatleskog Zeiner:* «Kontrollhensyn og kontrollpraksis. En studie av Food and Veterinary Office (FVO)». August 2003.
- 13-2003 Nanna Kildal: «Perspectives on Policy Transfer: The Case of the OECD». August 2003.
- **14-2003** *Erik Allardt:* «Two Lectures: Stein Rokkan and the Twentieth Century Social Science». «Den sociala rapporteringens tidstypiska förankring». September 2003.
- **15-2003** *Ilcheong Yi:* «The National Patterns of Unemployment Policies in Two Asian Countries: Malaysia and South Korea». September 2003. The Globalization Program.
- 16-2003 Dag Arne Christensen: «Active Ageing: Country Report Norway». November 2003.
- 17-2003 Kim Ove Hommen: «Tilsynspolitikk i Norge: Utflytting og autonomi». November 2003.
- **18-2003** *Dag Arne Christensen, Rune Ervik and Ingrid Helgøy:* «The Impact of Institutional Legacies on Active Ageing Policies: Norway and UK as Contrasting Cases». December 2003.
- **19-2003** Ole Frithjof Norheim og Benedicte Carlsen: «Legens doble rolle som advokat og portvakt i Fastlegeordningen. Evaluering av fastlegeordningen». Desember 2003. HEB.
- **20-2003** *Kurt R. Brekke og Odd Rune Straume:* «Pris- og avanseregulering i legemiddelmarkedet. En prinsipiell diskusjon og en vurdering av den norske modellen». Desember 2003. HEB.
- **21-2003** *Per Lægreid, Vidar W. Rolland, Paul G. Roness and John-Erik Ågotnes:* «The Structural Anatomy of the Norwegian State 1947–2003». December 2003.
- **22-2003** *Ivar Bleiklie, Haldor Byrkjeflot and Katarina Östergren:* «Taking Power from Knowledge. A Theoretical Framework for the Study of Two Public Sector Reforms». December 2003. ATM.
- **23-2003** *Per Lægreid, Ståle Opedal and Inger Marie Stigen:* «The Norwegian Hospital Reform Balancing Political Control and Enterprise Autonomy». December 2003. ATM.
- **24-2003** *Håkon Høst*: «Kompetansemåling eller voksenutdanning i pleie- og omsorgsfagene? Underveisrapport fra en studie av pleie- og omsorgsutdanningene». Desember 2003.

25-2003	Kjell Erik Lommerud, Odd Rune Straume and Lars Sørgard: «Downstream merger with
	upstream market power». The Globalization Program. December 2003.
26-2003	Ingrid Drexel: «Two Lectures: The Concept of Competence – an Instrument of Social and
	Political Change». «Centrally Coordinated Decentralization – No Problem? Lessons from the
	Italian Case». December 2003.
	2002
1-2002	Håkon Høst: «Lærlingeordning eller skolebasert utdanning i pleie- og omsorgsfagene?».
April 2002	
2-2002	Jan-Kåre Breivik, Hilde Haualand and Per Solvang: «Rome – a Temporary Deaf City!
	Deaflympics 2001». June 2002.
3-2002	Jan-Kåre Breivik, Hilde Haualand og Per Solvang: «Roma – en midlertidig døv by! Deaflympics
4 0000	2001». Juni 2002.
4-2002	Christian Madsen: «Spiller det noen rolle? – om hverdagen på nye og gamle sykehjem». Juni
E 2002	2002.
5-2002	<i>Elin Aasmundrud Mathiesen</i> : «Fritt sykehusvalg. En teoretisk analyse av konkurranse i det norske sykehusmarkedet». Juni 2002. HEB.
6-2002	<i>Tor Helge Holmås:</i> «Keeping Nurses at Work: A Duration Analysis». June 2002. HEB.
7-2002	Ingvild Halland Ørnsrud: «Mål- og resultatstyring gjennom statlige budsjettreformer». Juli
00_	2002.
8-2002	<i>Torstein Haaland:</i> «Tid, situasjonisme og institusjonell utakt i systemer». Juli 2002.
9-2002	Kristin Strømsnes: «Samspillet mellom frivillig organisering og demokrati: Teoretiske
	argument og empirisk dokumentasjon». August 2002.
10-2002	Marjoleine Hooijkaas Wik: «Mangfold eller konformitet? Likheter og forskjeller innenfor og
	mellom fem statlige tilknytningsformer». August 2002.
11-2002	Knut Helland:«Den opprinnelige symbiosen mellom fotball og presse». September 2002.
12-2002	Nina Berven: «National Politics and Global Ideas? Welfare, Work and Legitimacy in Norway
	and the United States». September 2002. The Globalization Program.
13-2002	Johannes Hjellbrekke: «Globalisering som utfordring til samfunnsvitskapane». September
	2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
14-2002	Atle Møen: «Den globale produksjonen av symbol og kunnskap. Verdsflukt og
15 0000	verdsherredømme». September 2002. Globaliseringsprogrammet.
15-2002	<i>Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid:</i> «Complex Patterns of Interaction and Influence Among Political and Administrative Leaders». October 2002.
16-2002	<i>Ivar Bleiklie:</i> «Hierarchy and Specialization. On Institutional Integration of Higher Education
10-2002	Systems». Oktober 2002.
17-002	Per Lægreid, Runolfur Smari Steinthorsson and Baldur Thorhallsson: «Europeanization of Public
	Administration: Effects of the EU on the Central Administration in the Nordic States».
	November 2002.
18-2002	Tom Christensen and Per Lægreid: «Trust in Government – the Relative Importance of Service
	Satisfaction, Political Factors and Demography». November 2002.
19-2002	Marit Tjomsland: «Arbeidsinnvandringssituasjonen i Norge etter 1975». November 2002.
	Globaliseringsprogrammet.
20-2002	Augustín José Menéndez m.fl.: «Taxing Europe. The Case for European Taxes in Federal
	Perspective». December 2002. The Globalization Program.
21-2002	Fredrik Andersson and Kai A. Konrad: «Globalization and Risky Human Capital
	Investment».December 2002. The Globalization Program.
22-2002	Fredrik Andersson and Kai A. Konrad: «Human Capital Investment and Globalization in
22 2002	Extortionary States». December 2002. The Globalization Program.
23-2002	Anne Lise Fimreite, Yngve Flo og Jacob Aars: «Generalistkommune og oppgavedifferensiering.
24-2002	Tre innlegg». Desember 2002. <i>Knut Grove</i> : «Frå privat initiativ til kommunalt monopol. Lysverk, sporvegar og renovasjon i
- 1 -2002	Bergen og Oslo 1850–1935». Desember 2002.
25-2002	<i>Knut Grove</i> : «Mellom 'non-intervention' og 'samfundsvillie'. Statleg og kommunal regulering
	av økonomisk verksemd i Norge på 1800-talet». Desember 2002.
	0.1

41

- **26-2002** *Dag Arne Christensen:* «Hovedtyper av valgordninger. Proporsjonalitet eller politisk styring?». Desember 2002.
- **27-2002** Jan Erik Askildsen, Badi H. Baltagi and Tor Helge Holmås: «Will Increased Wages Reduce Shortage of Nurses? A Panel Data Analysis f Nurses' Labour Supply». December 2002. HEB.
- **28-2002** *Sturla Gjesdal, Peder R. Ringdal, Kjell Haug and John Gunnar Mæland:* «Medical Predictors of Disability Pension in Long-Term Sickness Absence. December 2002. HEB.
- **29-2002** *Dag Arne Christensen og Jacob Aars:* «Teknologi og demokrati. Med norske kommuner på nett!». Desember 2002.
- **30-2002** *Jacob Aars:* «Byfolk og politikk. Gjennomgang av data fra en befolkningsundersøkelse i Bergen, Oslo og Tromsø». Desember 2002.
- **31-2002** *Hjørdis Grove:* «Kommunaliseringsprosessen i Århus 1850–1940». Desember 2002.